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Inspection Report: 50-397/96-02

License: NPF-21

Licensee: Washington Public Power Supply System
3000 George Washington Way
P.O. Box 968, MD. 1023
Richland, Washington

Facility Name: Washington Nuclear Project-2

Inspection At: WNP-2 site 'near Richland, Washington
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G. D. Replogle, Resident Inspector
D. E. Corporandy, Project Engineer'.
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Ins'ection Summar

Areas Ins ected: Routine, announced inspection by resident and region-based
inspectors of control room operations, licensee action on previous inspection
findings, operational safety verification, surveillance program, maintenance
program, and licensee event reports.

Results:

~0erations

~ Operations command and control (pursuit) when an equipment operator (EO)
identified that DG 2 Damper DMA-AD-21/2 linkage was disconnected was
characterized as a lack of active involvement for problem resolution and
incomplete communications both internally and with other organizations
(engineering and maintenance)
(Section 2.1.3.1).

~ Plant Procedure Manual (PPM) 2. 10.4 was inappropriate to the
circumstance in that it did not direct the user to check other possible
causes of low room temperatures, such as the DG standby air handling
unit dampers, resulting in a violation (Section 2. 1. 1.3).
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A shift manager inappropriately declared the work associated with
repairing the DG2 standby outside air damper as emergency work
(Section 6.1.3).

Operations maintained a high degree of command and control during
frequent plant power changes, resulting in trouble-free plant operations
(Section 3.4).

Operations acceptance of the inoperable OG vault cooler was an example
of a lack of problem followup and resolution, and the acceptance of a

work-around (Section 3.2.7).

En ineerin

~ Engineering support to plant operations in the identification and
troubleshooting of the DG2 damper issue was characterized by a lack of
intrusiveness and incomplete communications (Section 2. 1.3.2) ~

Engineering provided good support to operations by closely following
industry events associated with problems recently identified with Viton
diaphragms on control rod scram times and recommending increased scram
time testing of control rods (Section 4.3).

Engineering accepted a de facto change to the DG rooms heating and
ventilation system by accepting the condition that the permanently
installed heaters were not capable of automatically maintaining room
temperature above 70'F, without a 10 CFR 50.59 evaluation, resulting in
a violation (Section 4.1.1).

Engineering performed a number of deficient 10 CFR 50.59 evaluations,
specifically: the evaluations associated with abandoning the OG system
cooling system, modifying the doors to the three DG rooms, and modifying
the motor operators for service water (SW) valves located in the DG

rooms (Sections 4. 1.2 and 4. 1.6).

Engineering performed an inadequate followup assessment of operability
for a DG room damper with its actuator linkage found disconnected
(Section 4. 1.3).

Engineering did not perform adequate trending or root cause evaluation
of five failures of DG damper actuators (Section 4.1.5).

Engineering's effective root cause analysis of a failed continuously
energized Potter-Brumfield relay disclosed that the relay had a limited
service life (Section 4.2).
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Maintenance

~ Licensee craftsmen inappropriately performed maintenance and
postmaintenance testing on safety-related equipment as minor maintenance
(Section 6. 1. 1).

~ Work associated with the repair of the DG2 standby outside air damper
actuator did not have adequate work instructions and was not adequately
documented (Sections 6. 1. 1, 6. 1.2 and 6.2.3).

~ Operability testing associated with the repair of the DG2 standby
outside air damper actuator was not approved by the plant operating
committee (POC) per plant procedures (Section 6. 1.4).

~ Some past maintenance performed on DG dampers was not adequately
documented and did not have appropriate work instructions
(Section 6. 1.5).

~ Certified Vendor Information (CVI) associated with the DG damper
actuators was not current (Section 6.2.6).

The licensee identified that some contractor employees exceeded overtime
requirements during Refueling Outage R10 resulting in a noncited
violation (Section 6.3).

~ Surveillance testing was generally performed and documented properly.

Plant Su ort

~ The chemistry organization provided excellent support to plant
operations by effectively tracking the effects of a condenser tube leak
on reactor water chemistry and recommending power reduction for plugging
the condenser tube (Section 7.6).

~ Two instances of poor radiological work practices were identified while
observing maintenance craftsmen perform surveillance testing
(Section 5.2).

Summar of Ins ection Findin s:

New Items

:
Violation 397/9602-01 (Section 2. 1.3.3) was opened.
Violation 397/9602-02 (Section 4. 1. 1) was opened.
Unresolved Item 397/9602-03 (Section 4. 1.5) was opened.
Violation 397/9602-04 (Section F 1.6) was opened.
Unresolved Item 397/9602-05 (Section 6. 1) was opened.
A noncited violation was identified (Section 6.3).
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Closed Items

~ Violation 397/9503-02 (Section 10.2) was withdrawn.
~ Violation 397/9507-02 (EA 95-096 01023) (Section i0.3) was closed.
~ Violation 397/9509-01 (Section 10.4) was closed.

Other Items

~ Licensee Event Report (LER) 397/93-31, Revision 1 (Section 9. 1) was
reviewed and remains open.

Attachments:

~ Attachment 1 - Persons Contacted and Exit Heeting
~ Attachment 2 - Acronyms
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DETAILS

I PLANT STATUS

The plant was at 100 percent reactor power at the beginning of the inspection
period. Due to excess generation capacity in the Northwest, from January 12
to February 16, 1996, the Supply System changed power levels at various times
and operated between 60 and 100 percent power. Of note was on February 5
when power,was reduced to 60 percent to repair a leaking condenser tube. On
February 16, reactor power was reduced to 60 percent where it stayed for the
remainder of the inspection period, due to economic dispatch.

2 ONSITE FOLLOWUP TO EVENTS (93702)

2. 1 Failure of DG Dam er DMA-AD-21 2

Background - The DG building ventilation systems are DG support systems that
are necessary to assure the DG availability and operability. The DG

ventilation systems consist of fans, dampers, and associated ductwork. Each
of the three DG rooms is served by a separate HVAC system. For each diesel
room there is a normal and standby air handling unit. The normal air handling
unit consists of a fan, an air-to-water room cooler, a 35 kW bank of heaters,
and four sets of dampers to control air flow and is normally running to
maintain room cooling/heating. The standby air handling unit consists of a
fan, an air-to-water room cooler and four sets of dampers to control air flow
and starts on a DG start signal to provide additional cooling capability. The
two air handling units are connected by a recirculation duct. The functions
of the systems are to maintain suitable room:temperatures for equipment
operation and to prevent the buildup of oil fumes in the day tank rooms. Each
ventilation system is designed as an engineered safety feature system and is
powered from Class 1E power. A failure in one DG room ventilation system will
not affect the operation of the other systems. As stated in the Final Safety
Analysis Report (FSAR), all three DG ventilation systems operate automatically
to maintain ambient temperature at equipment operability limits during all
modes of operation. In addition, electric heaters are stated to be designed
to maintain the DG rooms at a minimum temperature of 70'F during extreme
weather conditions which provides a 7'F margin above the minimum temperature
of 63'F to assure DG operability.

2.1.1 DMA-AD-21/2 Actuator Linkage Found Disconnected

On the morning of January 17, operators started the SW system to conduct
surveillance testing on the system. The midshift EO noted to the dayshift EO

that DG2 room temperature was decreasing. During the shift turnover process
the control room supervisor (CRS) asked the oncoming EO to tour the room and
attempt to find the cause of the decreasing room temperature. Following the
shift turnover, the shift technical advisor (STA) also called a system
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'engineering supervisor (SES) to request engineering assistance in determining
the cause of the low room temperature.-

While investigating the cause of low room temperatures in the DG2 room, =the EO

found an unlabeled ventilation damper with its actuator linkage disconnected
in the standby air handling u'nit at approximately 11:40 a.m. The EO notified
the CRS of the disconnected damper. The CRS directed the EO to contact the
production senior reactor operator (PSRO) so that a work request could be
initiated. Because the damper was not labeled, the EO could only describe the
location of the damper to the PSRO.

Relying on, the EO's verbal description of the damper, the PSRO reviewed the
ventilation'system piping and instrumentation diagram. The PSRO improperly
identified the damaged damper as DMA-AD-21/1 and initiated Work Request (WR)
96-000242 to repair the damper. The PSRO assigned the WR a routine priority
because the piping and instrumentation diagram showed the damper in the failed
closed position and he assumed that the damaged damper was in its fail-safe
position and did not affect the operability of the DG. The PSRO did not
contact the EO to verify that he had identified the correct damper.

At approximately noon, after the EO reported the disconnected damper linkage
to the control room, the STA again called the SES and informed him that a

damper had been found disconnected. The STA did not discuss which specific
damper had been found disconnected. The SES contacted the former heating and
ventilation system engineer (SE) for assistance since the assigned SE and the
backup SE were in training.

From 12:24 to 12:40 p.m. that engineer (SE) and the SES walked down the DG2
room and attempted to locate the source of the low DG room temperature. They
used PPM 2. 10.4, "DG and Cable Cooling HVAC," to guide them in their walkdown
of the DG ventilation system. They did not look into the disconnected damper
that the STA had discussed with the SES.

At 1:40 p.m. the STA, in preparation for the upcoming shift turnover, called
the SE to determine the results of the walkdown. The SE stated that no
problems were found. The control room operator logged that Damper DMA-AD-21/1
was functioning properly and no problems were identified by the SE. The STA
and the SE did not discuss the disconnected damper.

During the morning of January 18, the CRS noted the disparity between log
entries for the EO reporting a specific damper problem and the followup SE

entry stating that no problem existed. The CRS contacted engineering and
spoke with the SE concerning the inconsistency. The SE stated that he was
unaware of a damper linkage problem and had not looked For such a problem on
the previous day. At 12:56 p.m. the SE recognized that Damper DMA-AD-21/2,
the standby outside air damper, was the disconnected damper that the EO had
discovered the previous day. The SE and the SES discussed the significance of
this damper being disconnected with the shift manager (SM). The SM declared
DG2 inoperable due to the disconnected linkage.
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The SM determined that the repair of the damper should be considered
"emergency work." He telephoned a PSRO and informed the PSRO of the
misidentification of the damper and requested he immediately contact'he Fix
It Now (FIN) team to reconnect the linkage of Damper DMA-AD-21/2. By
2:02 p.m., a mechanic had reconnected. the damper linkage; however, during the
postmaintenance testing (PMT), the damper did not correctly reposition.

At 4 p.m. the licensee initiated Problem Evaluation Request (PER) 296-0043 to
document the inoperability of DMA-AD-21/2 and the incorrect identification of
the damper.

The licensee declared DG2 operable at 1: 16 p.m. on February 19, based on a

flawed followup assessment of operability (FAO). The inspectors noted that
DG2 was determined to be operable when the FAO was corrected. From February
18 to February 20, the licensee conducted troubleshooting and repair of DMA-

AD-21/2 and its actuator. On February 19, the plant manager initiated an

Incident Review Board ( IRB) due to the misidentification of the disconnected
damper and the initial difficulties encountered during the repair effort.
Repairs to the DG2 standby outside air recirculation damper actuator and
connecting linkage were completed on February 20.

2.1.2 IRB

On January 24, the IRB provided draft "IRB Report for PER 296-0043, DG Air
Damper DMA-AD-21/2 Linkage Problem" to the plant manager and discussed the
observations in detail. The report was considered draft because the IRB had
not completely resolved an issue associated with the FAO and had not
incorporated the minor comments made by management. The final IRB report was
issued on January 26. The IRB's findings included:

~ Communication between the EO and the PSRO/control room relative to the
damper identification was inadequate. The misidentification of the
correct damper delayed specific discussions and the decision concerning
the operability of the DG.

~ The failure of the PSRO to identify a potential operability problem was
directly related to the misidentification of the damper.

~ There was no direct communication between the PSRO/control room and the
SE relative to the damper problem until one day after discovery.

Following the correct identification of the damper, direct
communications between the control room and system engineering occurred
to discuss the operability of DG2. A conservative decision was made to
declare the unit inoperable.

The FAO performed to justify operability of DG2 was inadequate in that
it made improper assumptions regarding the operation of the DG HVAC

system.



'
~ The site had failed to write a PER to identify the as-found damper

positioner arm damage on Wednesday. A PER would have enabled prompt
review and assessment of the impact to operability.

2. 1.3 NRC Inspection of the DMA-A0-21/2 Issue

NRC inspectors interviewed licensee personnel, attended the IRB debrief of
their findings, reviewed the IRB report, and observed selected portions of the
repairs of the DG2 standby outside air ventilation system. Inspection
associated with the IRB is documented below and maintenance observations and
findings associated with the repair of the damper actuator are documented in
Section 6 of this report.

2. 1.3. 1 Assessment of Operations Involvement in Finding Damper DMA-AD-21/2
Disconnected

The EO's identification of the disconnected damper was an example of a strong
questioning attitude. The EO did not stop searching for the cause of the
decreasing DG2 room temperature after he had taken actions specified in PPM

2. 10.4. The EO indicated he had looked into the standby air handling unit
because he had been involved in a turbine building temperature issue where
disconnected damper linkages had been found.

When notified by the EO of a disconnected damper, the control room staff
redirected the EO to the PSRO instead of assisting the EO directly or
directing the EO to the shift support supervisor (SSS) for assistance.
Normally, the SSS assists the EOs with the resolution of equipment problems.

1

The control room staff did not establish a central focus to coordinate
activities associated with a decreasing room temperature and the disconnected
damper. Without a central focus, several misunderstandings of what had been
accomplished resulted in a 1 day delay of understanding the significance of
the disconnected damper. The lack of a central focus also contributed to
inadequate and incorrect control room logs (i.e, errors in documenting the
EO's initial report to the control room, comments on the SE's knowledge of the
disconnected linkage, and the engineer's finding of no problems with the
damper). The lack of technical knowledge of operations personnel appeared to
contribute to the misidentification of the damper. The STA, who was
communicating with engineering, did not have a sufficient understanding of the
DG HVAC system to direct the engineers to the disconnected dampers. The PSRO

identified the wrong damper on the WR and failed to follow up with the EO to
ensure that the correct damper had been called out in the WR. Additionally,
the PSRO failed to recognize the difference between a "failed position" and a
"fail-safe" position and made an inappropriate "impact on operability"
conclusion in the WR.

The control room staff's performance for this issue was characterized by
incomplete followup, incomplete informal communications, and incomplete
logkeeping.
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2. 1.3.2 Assessment of Engineering's Involvement in the Decreasing DG2 Room

Temperature

The STA had contacted the SES twice and had identified that a damper had been
found disconnected. The SES did not tell the SE that a damper had been found
disconnected and failed to follow through with that knowledge during his
search of the DG2 room. The SE and the SES were aware that the SW system was
in service and could have an impact on room temperature.

The SES and an SE then walked down the DG2 room to identify the cause of the
low room temperatures. The SE and the SES used Paragraph 5.5, "Diesel
Generation Room Temperature Low (<70'F)" of PPM 2. 10.4, "DG and Cable Cooling
HVAC," to inspect the room. The procedure directed the user to inspect the
dampers in the normal HVAC system (but not the standby unit), to consider
securing the SW system if in operation and consider placing portable heaters
in service. The SES and the SE assumed that the only cause of the decreasing
room temperature was that the SW system was in service.

On the following day, after locating the damaged damper, instead of
documenting and assessing the as-found condition of the damper to determine
the cause of the damage, the SE requested the FIN team repair and reconnect
the linkage assembly. It appeared that engineering did not try to understand
the cause of the damage prior to attempting repairs. The failure to properly
understand the operation of a damper assembly prior to attempting repairs was
considered to be an example of a poor engineering root cause evaluation
practice.

Engineering's involvement in the decreasing DG2 room temperature was
characterized by a lack of intrusiveness, by a preconceived idea of the cause
of the problem, and by incomplete communications.

2. 1.3.3 Inadequate Procedure

The inspectors considered PPM 2. 10.4 inadequate since the procedure provided
the user with insufficient guidance to determine the ca se of a decreasing
room temperature. The inspectors noted that the procedure had the user check
only the normal air handling unit and not the standby air handling unit or
other means of losing room heat such as the position of a flapper on the
exterior door. The inspectors further noted that alarm response
Procedure 4.826.P2, "DG 2 Room Temperature High/Low," also only required that
the user check only operating air handling unit when DG2 room temperatures
were high or low.

If the standby air handling unit outside air recirculation dampers failed in
the mid-position, a flowpath existed from the outside, past the outside air
damper, through the recirculation damper and to the suction of the normal
system HVAC unit. This appeared to be at least one source of cold air that
resulted in decreasing DG2 room temperatures on January 18. The EO, who found
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the disconnected damper, informed the inspectors that after he had closed the
partially open outside air damper that room temperature stabilized above 70'F.

The deficient procedure was a concern because it caused corrective actions
taken by the SES and SE associated with an important piece of safety-related
equipment to be unnecessarily delayed. As such, this was considered to be an
example of a violation of 10 CFR Part 50, Appendix B, Criterion V, which
requires that activities affecting quality be accomplished in accordance with
procedures appropriate to the circumstances. The subject procedure was not
appropriate to the circumstances because it did not require checking other
possible causes of low room temperatures such as the standby DG HVAC dampers
(Violation 397/9602-01).

2.1.3.4 NRC Assessment of IRB Effectiveness

The IRB's purpose is to immediately investigate WNP-2 plant events where human
performance is suspected to be a main contributor in an event that has had
significant safety, economic, process, or regulatory impact on the Supply
System. The IRB is to f'actually determine what happened, how it happened, and
why it happened. The IRB is to provide comprehensive and immediate
information gathering for corrective action decision making. The IRB does not
perform root cause assessments. The inspectors had the following observations
concerning the IRB associated with this issue.

With respect to factually determining what happened, the inspectors considered
the IRB's performance required strengthening. The inspectors identified that
the IRB had not recognized that the STA had told the SES of a damper linkage
problem and the SES had not told the SE of the damper problem. The IRB did
not identify that the SE and SES had used PPM 2. 10.4 for troubleshooting and
that the inadequacy of the procedure was a contributing factor to the delay in
identifying the correct damper.

With respect to determining how and why the event happened, the inspectors
considered the IRB's performance also required strengthening. The IRB
considered the misidentification of the damper to be a communication error
between the PSRO and the EO and the control room staff. The inspectors
concluded there was adequate communication between these individuals. The
PSRO failed to verify by personal observation or via a second party what he
had deduced from the EO's description of the damper. The inspectors found
that normally the control room would have directed the SSS to assist the EO in
investigating a problem such as this one. However, the SSS was involved in
other activities and the EO was therefore directed to the PSRO. During the
debrief, the .IRB stated that the failure of the PSRO to identify a potential
operability problem was directly related to the misidentification of the
damper. The inspectors disagreed with this assessment. Although the PSRO had
based his operability determination on the wrong damper number, the failure of
the misidentified damper could also have rendered the DG inoperable as well.
The PSRO had identified that the damper was in its failed position (closed)
but had mistakenly assumed that this was a "fail-safe" position. Contrary to



what the PSRO believed, Damper DNA-AD-21/I did not have a fail-safe position.
The inspectors considered that the lack of technical knowledge of the PSRO

strongly contributed to the delayed assessment of operability.

2. 1.3.5 Conclusions

The EO's identification of the disconnected damper was an example of a strong
questioning attitude. The control room staff's performance for this issue was
characterized by incomplete followup, incomplete and informal communications,
and poor logkeeping. Engineering's involvement in the decreasing DG2 room
temperature was characterized by a lack of intrusiveness, by a preconceived
idea of the cause of the problem, and by incomplete communications.
PPH 2.10.4 was inappropriate to the circumstance in that it did not direct the
user to inspect other possible causes, such as the dampers of the standby air
handling unit. While adequate, the IRB's performance required strengthening
so that all aspects of an issue are identified and fully developed.

The licensee indicated that the IRB had lost focus when it identified that the
initial FAO was flawed (Section 4. 1,3). The licensee had previously
recognized the IRB process required strengthening and had a draft revised
rocedure in lace at the time of this event. The licensee initiatedp p

PER 296-0043 to review this event.

3 PLANT OPERATIONS (71707, 92901)

3.1 Plant Tours

The inspectors toured the following plant areas:

Reactor Building
Control Room
Diesel Generator Building
Radwaste Building
Service Water Buildings
Technical Support Center
Turbine Generator Building
Yard Area and Perimeter
Diesel Fire Pump Room

3.2 Ins ectors'bservations

3.2.3 Shift Manning

The inspectors observed control room and shift manning for conformance with
10 CFR 50.54(k), Technical Specifications (TS), and administrative procedures.
The inspectors also observed the attentiveness of the operators in the
execution of their duties. The inspectors concluded that shift manning was in
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conformance with the applicable requirements and operators were generally
attentive to duties; The control room was observed to be free of
distractions.

3.2.4 Equipment Lineups

The inspectors verified that valves and electrical breakers were in the
position or condition required by TS and administrative procedures for the
applicable plant mode. This verification included routine control board
indication reviews and conduct of partial system lineups. Appropriate entry
into TS limiting condition for operation was verified by direct observation.
In reviewing PERs and logs, the inspectors noted that the licensee had
identified two instances of incorrectly positioned nonsafety-related valves.
The inspectors considered the identification and documentation of these
problems and example of improving performance.

3.2.5 Equipment Tagging

The inspectors observed selected equipment for which tagging requests had been
initiated and verified that tags were in place and the equipment was in the
condition specified. In reviewing PERs and logs, the inspectors noted that
the licensee had identified an instance of a problem with tagging. The
inspectors considered the identification of this problem to be an example of
improving performance.

3.2.6 General Plant Equipment Conditions

The inspectors observed plant equipment for indications of system leakage,
improper lubrication, or other conditions that would prevent the system from
fulfilling its functional requirements. Annunciators were observed to
ascertain their status and operability. No anomalies were identified.

3.2.7 Delay in Addressing Deficient OG Annunciator Procedure

During a control room tour on february 3, the inspectors questioned operators
about the OG "Adsorber Vault Temperature High" alarm with the annunciator lit.
The CRS informed the inspectors that the vault coolers had been inoperable for
approximately 18 months, but engineering had determined that the condition was
acceptable. The inspectors were 'later informed that the OG coolers had been
inoperable most of the time (operable for only 2.8 out of the previous
10 years).

The inspectors noted that operators could not perform the requirements of the
annunciator procedure associated with the previously noted alarm. Annunciator
Procedure 4.672.A9, "Adsorber Vault High Temperature," required that operators
check for proper operation of the charcoal adsorber vault cooling system per
PPN 2. 10.7. However, since the vault coolers were inoperable, the actions
could not be performed. Operations failed to init:ate the necessary actions
to correct this condition.
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In response to the inspectors'oncerns, the annunciator was disconnected and

the annunciator window caution-tagged. As discussed in greater detail in
Section 4. 1.6 of this report, the licensee had not performed an appropriate
10 CPR 50.59 evaluation regarding the inoperable vault coolers.

The inspectors considered that operations personnel were not responsive to
correcting a condition that made procedural compliance impossible. The

inspectors considered operations acceptance of the inoperable vault cooler as

an example of a lack of intrusiveness and problem followup and resolution.

3.3 En ineered Safet Features Walkdown

The inspectors walked down selected engineered safety features (and systems
important to safety) to confirm that the systems were aligned in accordance
with plant procedures. During the walkdown of the systems, items such as

hangers, supports, electrical power supplies, cabinets, and cables were
inspected to determine that they were operable and in a cohdition to perform
their required functions. Proper lubrication and cooling of major components
were also observed for adequacy. The inspectors also verified that certain
system valves were in the required position by both local and remote position
indication, as applicable.

The inspectors walked down sel.ected portions of the following systems:

Diesel Generator, Division 1, 2 and 3

Low Pressure Coolant Injection Train A

High Pressure Core Spray
Standby Gas Treatment Train A

Standby Liquid Control
Standby Service Water System Train A and B

125-Vdc Electrical Distribution, Division 2

250-Vdc Electrical Distribution

The inspectors noted that the engineered safety features systems were
generally in good material condition and were aligned in accordance with
applicable licensee procedures for the portions of the systems walked down.

.4 ~h
During this inspection period the inspectors observed operations associated
with a number of reactor power changes. Operators were required to change
power from 100 percent to 60 percent to meet Northwest power needs. The power
changes required multiple control rod manipulations, changes in reactor
coolant flow, and additional manipulations of components (e.g., feedwater
heaters). The inspectors observed that operator command and control during
frequent plant power changes was excellent, resulting in trouble-free plant
operations.



-14-

3.5 NRC Review of Third Part Assessment

The Senior Resident Inspector reviewed the August 1995 Institute of Nuclear
Power Operations ( INPO) Evaluation of WNP-2 and the INPO WNP-2 Accreditation
Evaluation -Report of June 26-30, 1995. The inspector's review identified no
inconsistencies between the INPO findings.and NRC perceptions of the
licensee's performance. The inspector determined that no additional regional
followup was required.

4 ONSITE ENGINEERING (37551, 92903)

4. 1 DG Heatin and Ventilation S stem Desi n Inade uacies

Background — The WNP-2 standby AC power system consists of three DGs, each
serving engineered safety feature loads in its own isolated division of the AC

distribution system. DGs 1, 2, and 3 provide 4160 VAC emergency power to
their respective AC buses.

FSAR Section 9.4.7. 1 states that each of the three DG rooms is serviced by a

separate HVAC system. In addition, it states that each safety-related HVAC

system is equipped with electric heaters (35 kW capacity) which are designed
to maintain the DG rooms at a minimum temperature of 70'F during extreme
weather conditions (-27'F). This provides a 7'F margin above the minimum
temperature of 63'hich is required to assure DG operability. HVAC system
components receive power from a Class lE-power source.

4.1.1 DG Room Heating Deficiency

On January 19 with outside air temperature of approximately 20'F, while
touring DG rooms,,the NRC inspectors noted that there was an energized
temporary portable heater connected to a convenience outlet in each of the DG

rooms. The inspectors were told that the temporary heaters were needed to
maintain the DG rooms greater than 70'F. Operators noted that the heaters had
been installed as allowed by PPH 2. 10.4.

The inspectors questioned members of the licensee's engineering staff
concerning the adequacy of the DG room heating and ventilating system because
the installation of temporary heaters provided clear indication that the

,permanently installed HVAC system heaters could not meet the design as stated
in the FSAR. The inspectors found that for a number of years during the
colder months of the year the licensee had supplemented the DG room HVAC

system heaters with. up to two temporary 15 kW heaters per room to maintain
temperatures above 70'F. The inspectors noted that on the colder days during
this inspection period the licensee was having trouble maintaining room
temperatures above 70'F even with two 15 kW heaters in each room. The
inspectors also noted that the temporary portable heaters received power from
nonsafety buses, unlike the permanently installed heaters that received power
from safety buses.
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During the initial discussion on this issue, the licensee indicated that the
addition of temporary heaters to the room had been reviewed and was
acceptable, as it was permitted by PPM 2. 10.4, "DG and Cable Cooling HVAC,"
Step 5.5. The engineers indicated that the addition of the heaters to the DG
rooms was an acceptable alternative to assure the rooms'emperatures were
maintained above 70'F.

The inspectors identified that the licensee had not performed a 10 CFR 50.59
evaluation to assess the acceptability of the deficient HVAC heaters. The
licensee's 10 CFR 50.59 evaluation of the change to PPM 2. 10.4 that permitted
the addition of temporary heaters to the DG rooms appeared deficient in thatit did not assess the deficient design of the DG rooms'VAC system.

The inspectors found that since 1990 the licensee had recognized that the
installed HVAC heaters could not meet the FSAR design requirements during cold
weather conditions (as documented in PERs 290-960 and 290-995, both dated
December 1990), but had not taken permanent steps to correct the deficiency or
to correct the FSAR ~ The inspectors considered the acceptance of the as-is
condition of the heaters to be a de facto change to the facility as described
in the FSAR. As such, the licensee was required by 10 CFR 50.59 to evaluate
and document the acceptability of the change to ensure that an unreviewed
safety question did not exist. The inspectors considered the acceptance of
this de facto change a violation of 10 CFR 50.59 (Violation 397/9602-02).

On January 30, 1996, with subzero outside temperatures, an SM initiated
PER 296-0078 to look into the adequacy of the HVAC heating system because the
two portable heaters in the room were having difficulty maintaining the room
temperature above 70'F and the heaters had been tripping their power supply
breakers. The PER did not address the failure to oerform the appropriate
10 CFR 50.59 evaluations. During research of this problem, the licensee
identified that several of the permanently installed HVAC heater elements were
not functioning'he inspectors will continue to monitor the licensee's
progress at resolving the heater problems as an unresolved item (Unresolved
Item 397/9602-03).

4. 1.2 Modifications That Affected DG Room Heater Capacity

At the inspectors'equest, the licensee provided the design packages for
modifications performed since initial construction that could have affected
the DG room HVAC system ability to automatically maintain room temperature
above 70'F. The licensee provided the inspectors with two modifications:
Plant Modification Record (-PMR) 90-0361-0, "SW System Motor-Operated Valves
Deletion," and PMR 87-0295-'0, "Modifications for DG Building [Doors] due to
Flooding from Automatic Sprinkler System's Water/Diesel Fuel Mixture
Scenario."

PMR 90-0361-0 permanently removed the motor operators from eight SW
motor-operated valves and locked the valves in the open position. The valves
had allowed isolation of various components during normal plant operation and
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effectively isolated the DG rooms from the cold SW during the winter months.
The valves were designed to automatically open if a safety signal was received
and the DGs were operating. This modification affected DG room temperature in
that the locked open valves provided a continuous flow path of SW through the
DG room whenever service water was in operation. During the winter months,
there appeared to be sufficient radiant heat transfer through the piping to
affect the room temperature. The inspectors considered the licensee's
10 CFR 50.59 evaluation to be deficient, because the evaluation did not assess
the impact of the valve modifications on the capability to maintain
appropriate DG rooms temperature. The inspectors considered this an example
of poor. engineering work.

PMR 87-0295-0, installed "flappers" on the external DG room doors to permit
flood water to flow outside the DG room if the sprinkler system initiated.
(The doors provide an emergency exit to the exterior of the building.) The
flappers swung freely on the doors and directly affected room temperature by
allowing a significant amount of cold air to enter and heat to leave the room
during the winter months. The inspectors considered the licensee's
10 CFR 50.59 evaluation to be deficient because the evaluation did not assess
the impact of the door modifications on the capability to maintain appropriate
DG room temperature. The inspectors considered this an example of poor
engineering work.

4. 1.3 Inadequate FAO

On January 19, engineering completed an FAO and determined that the DG was
operable with the standby outside air supply damper disconnected from the
master actuator--as long as outside temperature remained below 47'F. In the
FAO, the licensee assumed that the normal HVAC unit would work properly as
long as 47'F outside air was available to be directed into the room.

The licensee identified that the FAO was flawed. Specifically, it assumed
that 47'F (maximum) outside air would be supplied to the room through the
normal cooling unit. However, the engineer who performed the FAO did not
realize that the outside/recirculation air dampers would modulate to mix
outside air and recirculation air to supply 70'F air to the room. In response
to the finding, the FAO was revised. The flawed FAO is an example of poor
engineering and a continuing problem in providing operations with consistently
adequate FAOs.

The IRB recommended that operability concerns for equipment which is clearly
damaged should be evaluated by the SE prior to final operability
determination. PER 296-0056 addressed this concern and final corrective
actions required that FAOs be reviewed by technically adequate personnel
(slightly different than the IRB recommendation).
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4. 1.4 Poor Controls During Shop Testing of the Failed Actuator

After the licensee replaced the apparently failed actuator with a newer model,
engineering directed testing of the removed actuator. The inspectors
witnessed portions of this testing. When the inspectors arrived to observe
the activity, portions of the actuator had been disassembled and the motor was
connected electrically on the inside of the actuator housing versus the outer
connection points. When energized, the actuator rotated in the
counterclockwise direction, but did so continuously and did not stop at a
predetermined point as designed. Additionally, regardless of how the motor
leads were connected, the motor would rotate in the counterclockwise
direction. The inspectors agreed with the licensee that, at that point in
time, the actuator appeared to be malfunctioning.

The inspectors questioned the reasoning for disassembling the actuator befor'e
performing 'as-found electrical testing because during the shop testing the
actuator operated in a manner which was clearly inconsistent with how it had
previously operated in the field. As such, the testing provided very limited
information. The licensee agreed that the control of th'e shop testing could
have been better.

The licensee planned to perform additional testing to determine the root cause
of the -actuator failure. The circuitry associated with the actuator consists
of several circuit boards that contain computer chips and the manufacturer
would not provide the proprietary design information to the licensee. Without
an adequate understanding of the actuator electrical design, the performance
of an appropriate failure analysis of the actuator may be difficult.
4. 1.5 Failure History

The inspectors reviewed the failure history for this family of actuators and
found that this particular failure was the fifth documented since 1992. The
family of actuators consisted of 24 units which were equally distributed among
the three DG room HVAC systems. A failure of any of the actuators could
challenge the operability of the associated DG. A brief =ummary of the
failures is provided below:

~ PER 292-033, dated January 13, 1992, documented the failures of two
actuators associated with DMA-AD-32/2 (high pressure core spray (HPCS)
Normal HVAC) and DMA-AD-12/1 (DG1 Normal HVAC). During the installation
performed to correct the problem, Damper DMA-AD-32/2 was installed
backwards (opening when it should close and vice-versa), and was the
subject of PER 292-279, dated April 3, 1992.

.

PER 294-0135, dated February 24, 1994, documented the failure of the
actuator associated with DMA-AD-22/2 (DG2 Normal HVAC).

PER 294-0163, dated March 3, 1994, documented the failure of the
actuator associated with DMA-AD-12/1 (DG1 Normal HVAC).
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The inspectors noted that the licensee did not perform a root cause analysis
to address the above failures. The licensee plans to identify the root cause
of the recent damper DMA-AD-21/2 actuator failure. The inspectors c'onsidered
the licensee's lack of determination of the causes of the previous'failures
and the lack of recognition of a failure trend to be examples of poor trending
and lack of a questioning attitude. This item remains unresolved (Unresolved
Item 397/9602-03).

4. 1.6 No Approved 10 CFR 50.59 Evaluation for Inoperable OG Coolers

The inspectors noted during a control room walkdown that the OG vault cooling
system was not'operational. Additional research found that the engineering
staff had determined the OG cooling system was not needed in order to keep
effluents below the limits established in 10 CFR Part 50, Appendix I, and

10 CFR Part 20 under normal operating conditions (no fuel defects). The

inspectors found that the coolers had only been in operation for 2.8 years out
of the previous 10 years. The licensee had determined that without the
coolers and with some fuel defects a forced plant shutdown would be necessary
to assure Appendix I limits would not be exceeded.

FSAR, Section 11.3, and Table 11.3-2 described the gas coolers that are
utilized in the OG system to cool effluents to within the design requirements
of the charcoal absorbers (-40'F to +40'F). Cooling the effluents prior to
reaching the charcoal beds maximized the effectiveness of the beds, which in
turn reduced the activity of the effluents released to the atmosphere. The

licensee stated that without the coolers, under normal operating conditions
(no fuel defects), effluents would still be reduced to below a small fraction
of the Appendix I limits (Appendix I is more limiting than 10 CFR 20).
However, the inspectors noted that the FSAR did not'ddress operation of the
charcoal beds for long periods of time outside the design temperature
requirements.

The inspectors identified that the licensee did not have an approved
10 CFR 50.59 evaluation that determined that the failed vault coolers did not
constitute an unreviewed safety question. The coolers were described in the
FSAR and the acceptance of the failed condition of the coolers was considered
to be a de facto change to the facility as described in the FSAR. The

licensee indicated that a draft 10 CFR 50.59 evaluation was performed in
April 1995, but the POC found the document to be inadequate and did not
approve it. No further actions were taken.

This is an example of a violation of 10 CFR 50.59 for the failure to perform a

written safety evaluation which provides the bases for the determination that
vault coolers described in the safety analysis report, but no longer operable,
did not involve an unreviewed safety question (Violation 397/9602-04).
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4.2 Potter-Brumfield Rela Failure

During a surveillance on January 17, (PPM 7.4.4.3 . 1. 1A, "Primary Containment
Atmosphere Particulate and Gaseous Monitoring System CH A - CFT'), a normally
energized Potter-Brumfield relay (model AG11) failed, which in turn resulted
in the failure of the lamp for Pump CMS-FN-20 to extinguish when a hi-hi
radiation signal was simulated. However, the pump did secure (as required)
and met the intent of the surveillance. The relay was in a circuit that could
affect manual operation of the pump, as was experienced on previous occasions
when operators could not secure the pump manually, but it did not affect any
automatic functions of the atmosphere particulate and gaseous monitor. As

such, there was no safety significance associated with the failure.

The licensee replaced the relay and performed an indepth analysis to determine
the cause of the failure. A foreign material (a polymer) was found between
the coil and armature which caused the relay to stick. The analysis also
found that two other internal structural components were suffering from heat
related age embrittlement. The licensee concluded that the continuously
energized state of the relay caused the ambient temperature to be higher than
might otherwise be expected and this environment accelerated the aging of the
relay and ultimately caused i'ts failure.

When asked about the recommended service life for the continuously energized
relays, the vendor representative was stated to have indicated that the
service life was approximately 7. 1 years (based on testing nf a similar relay,
but not exactly the same model). The failed relay was in-service for
approximately 14 years.

The inspectors independently confirmed that the vendor had not previously
informed the licensee of the service life recommendations. Regardless, the
licensee had experienced other failures of continuously energized relays
manufactured by other companies (as documented in PERs 294-0700, 294-0762,
and 294-1010) and it would have been reasonable to assume that the
Potter-Brumfield relays could be impacted by similar operating conditions. As

corrective actions, the licensee was in the process of identifying all
safety-related relays that are .energized more that 66% of the time,
determining a service life for the units and implementing a relay replacement
program. The licensee's planned corrective actions appeared acceptable.

4.3 Viton Dia hra ms in Solenoid Scram Pilot Valves

The licensee has replaced a portion the control rod scram solenoid pilot valve
BUNA-N diaphragms with Viton diaphragms, Subsequent to the replacement of
these diaphragms, the industry 'has determined that the Viton diaphragms result
in slower rod scram timing as the diaphragms ages. The licensee has closely
followed the i'ndustry's experience on this subject. The licensee has
conducted increased scram time testing of the control rods to the
characterize the affect of the Viton diaphragms on WNP-2 control rod scram
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time and assure compliance with TS. The inspectors considered the following
of industry experience and the accelerated scram time testing of the control
rods an example of proactive engineering work.

5 SURYEILLANCE TESTING (61726)

The inspectors reviewed TS surveillance tests on a sampling basis to verify
that:

~ the surveillance tests were correctly included on the facility schedule;

~ a technically adequate procedure existed for performance of the
surveillance tests;

~ the surveillance tests had been performed at the frequency specified in
the TS and in accordance with the TS surveillance requirements; and

test results satisfied acceptance criteria or were properly
dispositioned.

Specifically, portions of, the following surveillances were observed by the
inspectors during this inspection period:

~ PPM 9.3.8, "Control Rod Insert and Withdrawal Timing," Revision 9

PPM 7.4.8. 1. 1.2. 11, "DG 2 Monthly Operability Test," Revision 25

PPM 7.4.6. 1.4. 13, "HSLC Hain Steam Line Pressure Low ( IB) — CTF/CC,"
Revision 10

The surveillances were appropriately performed, except as noted below.

5. 1 PPM 7.4.8. 1. 1.2. 11 "DG 2 Monthl 0 erabilit Test"

On January 22, 1996, the inspectors observed this surveillance in its
entirety. The surveillance included the operation of the DG at normal
operating conditions and fulfilled Technical Specification monthly
surveillance requirements.

The surveillance was performed satisfactorily. The inspectors noted a
potential instance of preconditioning during the surveillance. The procedure
required that the speed sensors be cleaned prior to DG operation. This
requirement was common for all three DGs. Section 7.6, Step 7.a of the
procedure required an electrician to clean off the speed sensor pickups using
a clean lint-free, bonded edge cloth. He was to verify no metal shaving or
grease on the speed sensor. Although there were no shavings, the cloth did
contain a small amount of grease but the check was deemed to be acceptable.
The specific concern was that by cleaning the sensors prior to operation of
the DG the licensee could be masking component failures.
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DGs I and 2 have redundancy in design in that there are two speed sensors per
unit. The speed sensors provide an input signal to the DG governor. The-
highest frequency signal is electronically selected for input to the governor.
Therefore, the safety significant oF preconditioning the speed sensors for
DGs I and 2 was minimal because it was unlikely that both sensors would have
failed at the same time (if one had failed the circuit would have selected the
other speed sensor -as an input to the governor) ~ The HPCS DG, however, only
utilizes a single speed sensor. As such, a failure of that component was more
likely to afFect the operability of the DG.

The licensee reported that approximately 5 years ago the HPCS DG had operated
erratically during a surveillance due to debris on the s'ensor pickup. At that
time the component was not cleaned periodically and the licensee believed that
it took approximately 5 years for enough debris to collect on the unit to have
caused the failure. In order to resolve the problem the licensee started
cleaning the pickups monthly. The licensee performed this task when the air
start system was isolated during manual cranking of the DG prior to starting
the OG.

Although the cleaning oF the HPCS DG speed sensor pickups was of greatest
concern, the inspectors determined that the practice would not likely mask
failures since it took 5 years for the problem to manifest itself previously.

The licensee agreed with the inspectors'oncerns and planned to discontinue
cleaning the pickups immediately prior to the starting the OGs. An annual
preventive maintenance task would be performed instead. The licensee's
planned corrective actions were acceptable.

5.2 PPH 7.4.6.1.4.13 "MSLC Hain Steam Line Pressure Low IB — CTF
CC'-'his

surveillance demonstrated the operability of the main steam line pressure
low monitoring of the inboard main steam isolation valve leakage control
system. This surveillance satisfied the monthly TS surveillance requirements
for this equipment.

The technicians demonstrated good coordination during the surveillance test.
The inspectors noted two instances of poor radiological worker practices.
First, while wearing a potentially contaminated glove, a worker left the area
to make a phone call to the control room. The procedure required the call.
The licensee counselled the individual concerning this error. The corrective
actions appeared acceptable.

Second, the inspectors noted that, when disconnecting the test equipment from
the system, the technicians placed the potentially contaminated end of the
hose fitting (a quick disconnect) down in the cart (a clean area) without
first bagging or surveying the fitting. Through further investigation, the
inspectors found that the licensee had reduced controls associated with
handling the quick disconnect fittings, because past experience had shown that
the fittings were normally found to be clean. This allowed the workers to
connect and disconnect the fittings over paper towels, in lieu of radiological
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certified catches. As a minimum, workers were still supposed to cap the ends
of the fittings with clean, quick disconnect caps. The inspectors found that
there was no written guidance which the workers could refer to and the
licensee had not provided training regarding the new controls.

In response to the inspectors'oncerns, the licen ee provided a training
session to the workers in the Instrument and Controls shop which detailed the
expectations for radiological controls when working with quick disconnects.
Additionally, the licensee was considering including written guidance in the
"Shop Practices Manual."

6 MAINTENANCE OBSERVATIONS (62703)

During this period the inspectors observed and reviewed documentation
associated with maintenance and problem investigation activities to verify
compliance with regulatory requirements and with administrative and
maintenance procedures, required quality assurance/quality control
involvement, proper use of clearance tags, proper equipment alignment and use
of jumpers, personnel qualifications, and proper retesting.

6. 1 Work Mana ement Deficiencies Associated with the Re air of DG2
Ventilation Dam er

Background - Damper DMA-AD-21/2 is the outside air damper of the DG2 standby
ventilation system air handling unit. This damper, in conjunction with the
recirculation damper, modulates between open and closed to maintain the room
temperature between 70'F and 104 F when DG2 is operating. The damper is
normally shut when the diesel is not operating. DMA-AD-21/2 is opened and
closed by a pair of motor actuator assemblies (master and slave) that are
attached to the damper by connecting rods.

The inspectors identified numerous work management deficiencies. As detailed
below, several involved either inadequate procedures or procedural compliance
issues. The licensee initiated PER 296-0125 to address these problems. These
work management deficiencies will be followed as an unresolved item
(Unresolved Item 397/9602-05).

6. 1. 1 Work Inappropriately Performed as "Minor Maintenance"

On January 18, the FIN team attempted to repair and reconnect the damaged
linkages of DMA-AD-21/2. The FIN team supervisor and workers believed the job
was being performed as "minor maintenance," as provided in PPH 1.3.7G, "Work
Implementation." PPM 1.3.7G permits work to be performed without work
instructions or an approved work order; however, the PPH requires that the
work be documented. (Unknown to these individuals at the time, the SH had
declared the job "emergency maintenance" but had failed to communicate that
fact to those conducting the maintenance.) Under the controls associated with
minor maintenance, the FIN team straightened the connecting rods, reconnected
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the damaged linkage, and performed PMT on the damper unit. The damper failed
the. PMT and work subsequently continued under the controls contained in
PPH 1.3.7B, "Emergency Maintenance."

The inspectors identified that the damper repair did not qualify as minor
maintenance. PPH 1.3;7C, "WR Screening and Evaluation," states that work can
be performed as minor maintenance if: (1) the work could not affect the
operability of safety-related equipment; and (2) formal PHT/operability
testing was not required. However, the work clearly affected the operability
of the safety-related damper and also required PHT.

In response to NRC questions, a FIN team mechanic and the FIN team supervisor
who were involved with the damper repairs stated that they had erred in
conducting the work as minor maintenance. The inspectors concluded that the
FIN team members had given priority to getting the job done and had not
considered the nature of the safety-related maintenance being perfo'rmed. The
inspectors considered this a cognitive error.

To address the issues identified by the inspectors concerning the management
of this work the licensee initiated PER 296-0125. This will be followed in
Unresolved Item 397/9602-05.

6. 1.2 Inadequate Documentation of As-Found Condition and Maintenance

The inspectors found that the licensee had not documented the as-found
condition of the failed actuator, the maintenance performed on the damper
assembly, or the PHT testing that was performed prior to noon on January 19.

On January 18, without documenting the as-found condition or the maintenance
performed, a FIN team mechanic under engineering guidance made repairs,
reconnected the damper linkages, and conducted a PHT that failed. After the
PHT failed, maintenance spent approximately 15 hours under the guidance of
engineering troubleshooting and testing the original actuator. The licensee
did not document the troubleshooting and testing

activities'he

inspectors noted that the failure to document this information has the
potential to impact the ability to determine the root cause of the actuator
failure. Recollection from several individuals involved with the work varied
greatly. Due to the lack of documentation, the licensee may have difficulty
in conclusively determining the exact cause of. the failure.

The inspectors found that PPH 1.3.7G, "Work Implementation," required that a
job investigation sheet (JIS) be printed for each minor job. Part of the
intent of this requirement was to ensure that as-found information and minor
maintenance be documented. The procedure indicated that "when the work is
complete, the work performed should be described on the JIS. The JIS should
be signed and sent to files." As previously noted, no information was
recorded on a JIS or the emergency work order task. In response to the
inspectors'oncerns, the licensee retrospectively documented some of the work
that was performed on January 18 in the work order task (WOT).
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To address the issues identified by the inspectors concerning the management
of this work the licensee initiated PER 296-0125. This will be followed in
Unresolved Item 397/9602-05.

6. 1.3 Inappropriate Use of Emergency Work Controls

The SM considered the maintenance to repair Damper DMA-AD-21/2 as emergency
work to be controlled per PPH 1.3.7B, "Emergency Maintenance." PPH 1.3.7B
defines emergency maintenance to include work that the duty CRS/SH deems to be
an emergency. Additionally, PPM 1.3.7B allows maintenance to begin
immediately with verbal work instructions and no work order or procedure. The
SM believed that emergency work controls were justified because the plant had
entered a 72-hour TS limiting condition for operation action statement for an
inoperable DG due to the damaged damper.

The inspectors considered the licensee's emergency maintenance program
appeared not to be consistent with the regulatory guidance because it allowed
maintenance on safety-related equipment without proper preplanning and without
the use of appropriate documents based solely on shift management discretion.

Additionally, the inspectors identified that the failure of the damper
actuator was the fifth failure of a damper actuator since 1992. The
inspectors noted that the licensee had not been foresighted and had not
prepared work procedures in advance, anticipating subsequent failures oF these
actuators.

To address the issues identified by the inspectors concerning the management
of this work the licensee initiated PER 296-0125. This will be followed in
Unresolved Item 397/9602-05.

6. 1.4 Operability Testing Not Documented and/or Performed Per an Approved POC

Procedure

PPM 1.3.7D, "Work Planning" and TS 6.8. 1 require that all operability testing
be performed in accordance with a POC reviewed and approved document. The
work that the FIN team accomplished on January 18 and the work that was
performed by the electricians on January 19 under emergency Work Order ZD74
required PHT to ensure that the system functioned as designed. The PHT
conducted by the FIN team was not identified or initially documented.
Additionally, Work Order ZD74 was not a POC-approved document and did not
reference a POC-approved procedure.

To address these issues identified by the inspectors concerning the management
of this work the licensee initiated PER 296-0125. This will be Followed in
Unresolved Item 397/9602-05.
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6. 1.5 Previous Maintenance Affecting the Operability of the DG Dampers Not
Documented

While reviewing documents for previously performed maintenance associated with
the dampers, the inspectors identified that work had been performed that
disconnected the linkages but was not documented in the work package. The

work could have affected the operability of the dampers and no PMT testing was

performed subsequent to the work.

On the most recent DG2 damper loop calibration sheet, dated May 3, 1995, the
inspectors noted that the full open and closed checks were not performed.
Instead, the following notation was made: "Linkage was removed on dampers,
could not confirm movement." The inspectors found that Work Order SA53 Task
01, " Inspect" was performed at the same time as the loop calibration check.
This work order required cleaning and inspection of the standby HVAC unit that
houses Damper DMA-AD-21/2. The work document did not authorize disassembly of
damper linkages and did not specify PMT.

The inspectors interviewed workers that were involved with the maintenance and

found that they disconnected the safety-related damper linkages while
performing the WOT. They stated that disconnecting the damper linkage was

necessary to properly clean the HVAC unit.

The inspectors questioned the adequacy of the work document because it did not
specify disassembly. of the safety-related damper, although this activity was

necessary in order to accomplish the task and did not specify PMT. Normally,
PMT would be required to ensure that the damper linkage was assembled
properly.

I

To address the issues identified by the inspectors concerning the management
of this work the licensee initiated PfR 296-0125. 'his will be followed in
Unresolved Item 397/9602-05.

6. 1.6 Pen and Ink Change to WO SA053, Task 01, Not Appropriately Reviewed

PPM 1.3.7J, "Work Order -Package Amendment" requires substantive changes to
WOTs to be reviewed by all of the individuals and organizations who initially
reviewed the WOT.

The inspectors identified that a pen and ink change to WO SA053, Task 01, was

not reviewed by all those who had initially reviewed the WOT. The change
required workers to install, as necessary, new insulation material to the
edges of the dampers in DMA-AH-21. The SE, a quality control inspector, and a

maintenance supervisor initialled the change. However, the planning
superv',sor and a planner who had reviewed the original WOT did not review the
change.

Additionally, during inspection of the dampers the inspectors observed that
weatherstripping had been installed on the trailing edges of the dampers. The

weatherstripping had detached and was hanging down from many of the damper
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blades. The inspectors requested that the licensee provide the design change
that added the weatherstripping and assess the impact of the detached
weatherstripping on the dampers'bility to open and close. The licensee was
researching these issues at the end of the inspection period.

To address the issues identified by the inspectors concerning the management
of this work the licensee initiated PER 296-0125. This will be followed in
Unresolved Item 397/9602-05.

6.2 DG2 Ventilation Dam er DMA-AD-21 2 Re air

Background — On January 19, the NRC inspectors observed the work associated
with NOT ZD74 01, which removed an apparently failed actuator motor and
installed and tested a new model actuator motor. The inspectors noted that
during the initial phases of work a work order was not at the job site, as the
job was being worked as emergencv maintenance. On January at approximately
4 p.m. an approved work order was provided to the technicians. Prior to that
time, the workers utilized an unapproved draft version of the work order and
marked up wiring diagrams from engineering to perform the maintenance.

The inspector observed the installation of the actuator. He noted that the
technicians utilized good repeat-back skills, worked well together, and made
the necessary wiring changes without error. As described in detail in the
following sections, the inspector noted deficiencies associated with
instructions for PMT and the reconnecting of damper linkages.

6.2. 1 Failure to Identify a Fan-Interlock

During the installation of the replacement actuator, workers attempted to
perform a rotation check of the new actuator but found that there was no power
to the unit. The installation instructions in HOT ZD74 01 failed to consider
an interlock that required the fan to be running in order to provide power to
the damper motors.

The HVAC fan was then started and the remainder of the installation activities
were performed in the HVAC unit with the fan running, which made completion of
the job difficult.
The inspector considered the alternative (to jumper the interlock) would have
improved work performance and efficiency. The failure to appropriately
account for the interlock was indicative of deficient preplanning.

To address the issues identified by the inspector concerning the management of
this work the licensee initiated PER 296-0125. This will be followed in the
aforementioned unresolved item.

6.2.2 DMA-AD-21/2 Master and S3 ave Actuator Motor Operation

During a segment of the testing, the replacement master actuator was not yet
connected mechanically to the damper. The inspectors observed that when the
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slave actuator was energized, it repositioned the damper at approximately 60

percent of its full stroke. This indicated that DMA-AD-21/2 could not have
performed its safety function of full opening and closing. When the full open
signal was provided to the slave actuator and the outside air damper opened
only 60 percent, the recircul'ation damper was still open approximately 40

percent. Therefore, instead of all of the air originating from outside, a

significant portion of the air would be from the warmer recirculation pathway.
During hot weather this could have posed an operability concern because DG2

room temperature may not have stayed within design limits.

The inspectors discussed the observation of the dampers with the SES and the
SE. The SES indicated that following the work performed on January 18 the
slave actuator cycled the standby outside air recirculation damper within
1-2 percent full open and closed. The SE stated that he was sure that the
failure of the master actuator did not affect DG operability because the
damper could be repositioned by the slave actuator. The SE indicated that he

had previously observed one motor reposition the dampers. The inspectors
requested that the SE provide the design basis information associated with the
actuators to clariFy the operation of the dampers. The SE could not provide
documentation that indicated one motor would operate the dampers.
Subsequently, the licensee agreed that two actuators were necessary to
reposition these safety-related dampers.

The inspectors considered the engineer's system knowledge and understanding of
the system's design bases was weak.

6.2.3 Inadequate WOT Guidance Regarding Linkage Installation

The inspectors observed that WO ZD74 did not provide detailed work
instructions on how to connect the linkages. The WO stated "install the
linkage assembly." Work proceeded in a trial and error manner. Two hours
later the assembly was completed and the damper was successfully tested.

The licensee originally indicated that the job was within the skill of the
craft; however, after more thoroughly assessing the complexity of the task,
the licensee indicated that the work instruction should have been more
detailed. The inspectors noted that the technical manual, which provided
step-by-step instructions pertaining to the linkage installation, was not at
the job or referred to in the WOT.

In researching plant maintenance records, the inspectors identified that there
had been a history of problems associated with the installation of damper
linkages at WNP-2. PER 292-279 (dated April 3, 1992) documented an instance
where the linkages were installed in the reverse configuration (opening when

they should have closed and vice versa). When the inspectors discussed the
installation with the electricians prior to perForming the work, they stated
that they had never installed these types of linkages before and were
attempting to call mechanical maintenance personnel for guidance. The SES

that had oversight of the job also stated that he did not have an adequate
working-level knowledge of the DG HVAC system.
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The inspecto'rs concluded that the work instructions provided the craftsmen for
adjusting the standby DG2 outside air and recirculation dampers were
inadequate. The vendor manual appeared to provide adequate guidance to adjust
the dampers but was not used to adjust the dampers. The inspectors concluded
that declaring this work emergency maintenance resulted in providing the
craftsmen with inadequate work instructions.

To address the issues identified by the inspectors concerning the management
of this work, the licensee initiated PER 296-0125. This will be followed in
Unresolved Item 397/9605-05.

6.2.4 Linkage Set Screws Not Torqued

Each linkage consisted of two lever arms (one at the actuator and one at the
damper shaft) with a connecting shaft running between the arms. Each piece
was fastened to the assembly through the use of hex head screws which were
screwed into the rounded end of the connecting rod.

During the installation of the linkages, the inspectors noted that the
craftsmen used a standard box wrench to tighten the fasteners. The fasteners
were not tightened to a predetermined torque.

The inspectors noted that there was a history of finding loose set screws and
disconnected dampers which appeared to demonstrate the need for torquing the
screws. One mechanic stated he was involved with the repair of a disconnected
linkage on the DG1 HVAC unit about a year ago (no documentation existed to
confirm this statement). He further indicated that during routine maintenance
he would occasionally come across a HVAC damper linkage that had come loose.
He could not recall if the instances involved safety-related equipment and did .

not recall if the occurrences were documented.

The licensee noted that the vendor manual was silent on torquing the set
screws, but was looking into the reports of loose linkages and was attempting
to determine why the alleged instances were not documented.

To address the issues identified by the inspectors concerning the management
of this work the licensee initiated PER 296-0125. This will be followed in
Unresolved Item 397/9602-05.

6.2.5 No Periodic Testing of the Damper Modulation Function

The DG HVAC dampers are designed to modulate to control DG room temperature.
The dampers modulate to control the mixture of recirculation and outside air
through the HVAC units and to control flow through and around (bypass) the
room cooling coils.

While reviewing maintenance and surveillance history of the DG HVAC dampers,
the inspectors identified that the licensee had not periodically tested the
modulation function of the DG HVAC dampers. The licensee had performed loop
calibration checks which verified that the control circuitry functioned on a
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2-year interval. As part of the calibration, the technicians verified that
the dampers fully opened and fully closed at the required controller output;
however, the craftsmen did not check the modulation function. Since the
control circuits inside the damper actuators were complex and were not tested
during the loop calibration, some failure modes may only be observable during
the modulation phase of operation.

In response to the inspectors'oncerns, the licensee was evaluating the need
to perform testing of the modulation function. The licensee indicated that-
the modulation function of the damper was not a safety concern and that the
safety functions of the damper were to either be fully open or shut.

To address the issues identified by the inspectors concerning the management
of this work the licensee initiated PER 296-0125. This will be followed in
Unresolved Item 397/9602-05.

6.2.6 CVI Manuals Not Updated

The inspectors identified that the CVI manuals were not updated to include the
vendor information pertaining to the newly installed Johnson Controls
actuator. Because the actuators had been in use in the facility since 1988,
the manual should have contained this information. Additionally, WO ZD74,
Task 02, required that the CVI be updated to include the actuator vendor
information. However, it was assumed that the vendor manual information was
updated several years ago and the step was marked "N/A."

Subsequent to the inspectors'inding the above problem with a CVI, the
licensee also identified that the CVI manuals did not contain the appropriate
revision of vendor information for the Penn actuators, which were in use since
initial startup.

The licensee noted that they had previously recognized potential problems with
the currency of CVI manuals and had an audit planned. The inspectors will
review the results of the licensee's audit.

6.3 Exceedance of TS Overtime Limits b Contractor Em lo ees

The licensee investigated an issue concerning contractor employees possibly
exceeding the overtime limits specified in TS. The licensee's review of this
matter was documented in PERs 295-0486 and 295-0824. The licensee's
investigation identified that in refueling outage R10 (in May 1995) 14 General
Electric employees exceeded the limits specified in TS 6.2.2.e. The maximum
time of exceeding TS limits were 6 hours in a 7-day period, 5 hours in a 2-day
period, and 3 hours in a 24-hour period. Disciplinary action was taken and
additional worker training was conducted. This licensee-identified and
corrected violation is being treated 'as a noncited violation, consistent with
Section VII of the NRC Enforcement Policy.
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7 PLANT SUPPORT ACTIVITIES (71750)

The inspectors evaluated plant support activities based on observation of work
activities, review of records, and facility tours. The inspectors noted the
following during this evaluation.

7. 1 Fire Protection

The inspectors observed firefighting equipment and controls for conformance
with administrative procedures. The inspectors noted that a high number of
fire impairments'existed for which fire tours were being conducted because of
concerns with Thermo-Lag and fire seals.

7.2 Radiation Protection Controls

The inspectors periodically observed radiological protection practices to
determine whether the licensee's program was being implemented in conformance
with facility policies and procedures and in compliance with regulatory
requirements. The inspectors also observed compliance with radiation work
permits, proper wearing of protective equipment and personnel monitoring
devices, and personnel frisking practices. Radiation monitoring equipment was

frequently monitored to verify operability and adherence to calibration
frequency. Section 5.2 discusses inspectors'bservations of two instances of
poor radiological practices.

The inspectors noted that during this inspection the licensee continued the
installation of permanent shielding in pump rooms and other plant areas in
order to reduce routine exposures.

7.3 Plant Housekee in

The inspectors observed plant conditions and material and'quipment storage to
determine the general state of cleanliness and housekeeping.'ousekeeping in
the radiologically controlled area was evaluated with respect to controlling
the spread of surface and airborne contamination. Housekeeping was observed
to be good.

7. 4 ~Seceri t

The inspectors periodically observed security practices to ascertain that the
licensee's implementation of the security plan was in accordance with site
procedures, the search equipment at the access control points was operation'al,
the vital area portals were kept locked and alarmed, personnel allowed access
to the protected area were badged and monitored, and the monitoring equipment
was functional. No problems were noted during these observations.

The inspectors noted that the licensee had completed actions associated with
vehicular exclusion. The effectiveness of these actions will be evaluated in
an upcoming inspection by security specialists.
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7.5 . Emer enc Plannin

The inspectors toured the Emergency Operations Facility,,the Operations
Support Center, and the Technical Support Center and ensured that these
emergency facilities were in a state of readiness. Housekeeping was noted to
be very good and all necessary equipment appeared to be functional.

7. ~1h
The inspectors reviewed chemical analyses and trend results for conformance
with TS and administrative control procedures. Generally, plant chemistry was
good during this inspection period.

The chemistry organi'zation provided excellent support to plant operations by
effectively tracking the effects of a condenser tube leak on reactor water
chemistry and recommending power reduction for plugging the condenser tube.

7.8 Conclusions

Plant support performance was generally good during this inspection period.
The licensee has or is taking actions to correct identified weaknesses in this
functional area.

8 LER REVIEWS (90712, 92700)

8. 1 0 en LER 397 93-31 Revision 1: "Hain Control Room HVAC Hi h

Tem erature Condition Durin a Desi n-Basis Accident"

This LER was initiated when the licensee determined that the main control room
HVAC system may not maintain control room temperature below the design basis
limit of 104'F following a design basis event. Applicable design basis events
included any condition requiring a reactor shutdown concurrent with a loss of
offsite power. Under worst case conditions, the control room could reach a

temperature of 107.9'F approximately 12 hours into an event. The licensee
determined that the condition did not affect plant operability, but the design
basis temperature could have been exceeded during past summers coincident with
design basis accident conditions. However, the conclusion that plant
equipment (qualified to 104'F) would remain operable at 107.9'F was not
supported with pertinent testing, and was questionable.

The original NRC review of this LER was documented in Inspection
Report 50-397/93-26. In that report the inspectors expressed concerns because
the licensee had inadvertently discontinued periodic, monitoring (weekly) of
selected SSW system cooler UA values. (UA = design overall heat transfer
coefficient times .the design heat transfer surface area; 100% UA means no
fouling is present.) The periodic monitoring was part of the licensee's
corrective actions to the issues identified in the LER. In response to the
inspectors'oncerns, the surveillances were resumed in August 1995 and the
licensee found that the UA values for the two SSW building coolers were 60.6
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percent and 58.6 percent of a maximum UA value. The UA values had once again
dropped to below the design basis limit of 65 percent. The inspectors
requested that the licensee provide additional information to aid in the
proper determination of safety significance for this issue. However, the
licensee was unable to provide this information prior to the end of the
inspection period.

A second concern that the inspectors reported in Inspection
Report 50-397/93-26 involved the licensee's failure to establish a reliable
correlation between the fouling of the SSW building coolers (which were being
monitored) and the control room coolers (which were of concern). The licensee
had assumed that the UAs of the SSW room coolers would be the same as the UAs
for. the control room coolers, but had not validated this assumption with
testing. However, since the two SSW pump room coolers (same design and
similar operating conditions) did not degrade at the same rate, it was not
reasonable to assume that the control room coolers (which were of a different
design and in a different location) would track identically with the SSW pump
room coolers.

As part of the followup during this inspection period, the inspectors noted
that monitoring the SW building coolers and applying that information directly
to the control room coolers was inconsistent with the recommendations made in
Generic Letter (GL) 89-13. "Service Water System Problems Affecting Safety-
Related Equipment." In part, th'e GL recommended testing each SW system cooler
to ensure that fouling was not a problem. It was considered necessary to test
each cooler because fouling was not a uniform process and the UAs of different
coolers could vary substantially.

The inspectors also noted that the licensee did not commit to, all of the
recommendations made in the GL. At the time, the position appeared to be
justified because the licensee believed the SSW system to be clean and free of
fouling. However, the system currently suffers from substantial fouling and
the licensee may need to reconsider their commitments to the GL.

At the end of the inspection period, the inspectors were evaluating the safety
significance of the failure to maintain the UAs above the design basis limit.
Additionally, the adequacy of the licensee's GL 89-13 program was under
review. This LER will remain open pending completion of the NRC evaluations
for these two concerns.

9 FOLLOWUP ON CORRECTIVE ACTIONS FOR VIOLATIONS (92702)

The inspectors reviewed records, interviewed personnel, and inspected plant
conditions relative to licensee actions in response to previous open items.
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9.2 Closed Violation 397 9503-02: Oesi n Basis of Safet -Related
E ui ment Not Translated Into Procedures and Instructions as Re uired
b Criterion III of A endix B

The licensee provided sufficient information in their response letter to the
violation to establish that the existing pump design margins, combined with
the ASME Section XI in-service tests, provided reasonable assurance of pump
operability. The NRC addressed the issue by withdrawing the violation.
However, the NRC noted that it is not the main purpose of ASME Section XI
in-service testing to verify operability limits. Accordingly, the sole
reliance on this testing to verify operability limits may not be sufficient in
all cases.-

9.3 Closed Violation 397 9507-02 EA 95-096 01023 : SW S stem Procedures
Violated

This violation identified the failure of licensee personnel to adequately
verify that SW Valve SW-V-128A was locked sealed in its throttled position
following final flow adjustment. This violation was identified by an NRC

inspector. who found the lockwire seal broken near the valve handwheel.
Following identification by the NRC inspector, the licensee relockwired
Valve SW-V-128A and performed a partial surveillance to verify that the SSW

flows were properly adjusted. The results of the surveillance were
satisfactory.

The licensee also conducted an investigation to determine the cause of the
violation. The licensee was unable to determine exactly when and how the
lockwire seal was broken but noted that the procedure, PPM 7.4.7. 1. 1. 1, "SSW

Loop A Valve Position Verification," did not require direct inspection of the
seal. In order to prevent recurrence, the licensee revised PPM 7.4.7. 1. 1. 1

and PPM 7.4.7. 1. 1.2, the similar procedure for Loop B, to require that the
lockwire seals be physically handled, "...to verify they are intact and will
prevent significant valve movement following final flow adjustment." The
inspectors considered that the licensee's followup evaluation and corrective
actions were adequate for the SW system. However, with regard to the
procedure revisions to verify that lockwired seals are intact, the inspectors
expressed concern that the licensee's evaluation and corrective actions were
narrowly focused and did not address other critical plant systems with
lockwired sealed valves.

The licensee subsequently expanded its consideration of lockwired sealed
valves and at the close of the inspection period was in the process of
revising PPM 1.3.29, "Locked Valve Checklist," the procedure which addresses
critical-to-safety lockwired'alves at WNP-2, to require that all lockwires
for valves covered by the procedure be physically handled when verifying their
sealed status. The inspectors considered that the licensee's corrective
actions were adequate.
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9.4 Closed Violation 397 9509-01: Ina ro riate Extension of uglified
Life of H dro en Sensor 1301

During a review of PER 295-0251, which documented a concern about the
qualified life of the containment monitoring system hydrogen and oxygen
sensors, an NRC inspector noted weaknesses in the operability assessment of
the instrumentation. Specifically, the licensee had not adequately assessed
past operating history, the recommended qualification period from the vendor,
or what effect the failure of the equipment would have in providing misleading
information.

The inspectors discussed the weaknesses of the operability assessment with
licensee management. Subsequently, licensee management directed a revision of
the operability assessment. The revised assessment was more thorough;
however, the assessment lacked an evaluation of 'future detector operability,
including accident conditions for a detector that had exceeded its qualified
life. Further, the inspectors found that insufficient test data was available
to assess electrolyte level evaporation during thermal aging in qualification
testing. This led licensee personnel to the suspect conclusion that if a
sensor was functioning at the beginning of an accident it would continue to
function properly. The inspectors also discussed these observations with
licensee management.

The licensee's corrective actions addressed directly the mechanisms that
allowed the sensors to be used. The apparent direct causes of the violation
were inadequate standards regarding the application of the Arrhenius
methodology to extend the maintenance interval and the lack of specificity
about maintenance interval and qualified life. This apparently led to
confusion during repetitive work involving life extension. Specifically, when
the basis for the qualified life of a safety-related item was other than
thermal aging, the Arrhenius methodology could not be used to extend the
replacement interval. It is this situation that allowed the use of a hydrogen
sensor (1301) beyond its qualified life. The inspectors reviewed changes to
Engineering Standard EQES-4, "QID File Format and Organization" and the
Qualification Related Maintenance Summary. The inspectors also reviewed
EQES-11, "Qualification Scheduled Maintenance List, Database Management
Standard for Drawing M937," for changes. The inspectors determined that the
changes appeared sufficient to preclude further errors. The licensee
performed a review of equipment replacement intervals to determine if life
extensions'ntervals had been inappropriately applied. No other cases were
found.

10 REVIEW OF FSAR COMMITMENTS

A recent discovery of a licensee operating their facility in a manner contrary
to the FSAR description highlighted the need for a special focused review that
compares plant practices, procedures, and/or parameters to the FSAR
description. While performing the inspection discussed in this report, the
inspectors reviewed the applicable portions of the FSAR that related to the
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areas inspected. The following inconsistencies were noted between the wording
of the FSAR and the plant practices, procedures and/or parameters observed by
inspectors.

As discussed in Section 4. 1'. 1, WNP-2 FSAR Section 9.4.7. 1 states that "all
three OG ventilation systems operate automatically to maintain ambient
temperature at equipment operability limits during all modes of operation.
Electric heaters are designed to maintain OG rooms at a minimum temperature of
70'F during extreme weather conditions. This provides a 7'F margin above the
minimum temperature of 63'F, which is required to assure OG operability."
However, the inspectors identified that the existing system cannot maintain
the OG rooms above 70'F during extremely cold weather.

As discussed in Section 4. 1.6, WNP-2 FSAR Section 11.3 and Table 11.3-2
described the OG system gas coolers that are utilized to cool effluents to
within the design requirements of the charcoal absorbers (-40'F to +40'F);
however, the inspectors identified that the gas coolers have been operable for
only 2.8 years out of 10.
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'Qs ATTACHMENT 1

1 P"-RSONS CONTACTED

Washin ton Public Power Su
'

S stem

*J
D.

*R.
W.

*p
*V

L.
*M
*Q

N.
*V

p.
*A.
*T
*D
*M
*J

H.
J.
V.

*J
*W
*Q
*S
*C
*Q
J.

*D
*p
J.

*R.
*J

U.S

Albers, Radiation Protection Manager
Atkinson, Reactor and Fuels Engineering Manager
Barbee, System Engineering Manager
Barley, equality Assurance Director
Bemis, Vice President for Nuclear Operations
Contini, Operations Support
Fernandez, Licensing Engineer
Flasch, Assistant to the Managing Director
Gelhaus, WNP-2 Projects Manager
Hancock, Shift Manager
Harris, Maintenance Specialist
Ingersoll, NSSS Supervisor
Langdon, Assistant Operations Manager
Love, Chemistry Manager
Mand, Manager, Design and Projects Manager
Mann. Operations Staff
McDonald, Technical Services Manager
Monopoli, Maintenance Manager
Muth, equality Support Manager
Parrish, Chief Executive Officer
Pedro, Compliance

Specialist'fitzer,

Compliance Specialist
Sanford, Planning, Scheduling, Outage Manager
Scammon, Systems Engineer
Schwarz, Operations Manager
Smith, Plant General Manager
Swailes, Engineering Director
Swank, Regulatory and Industrial Affairs Manager
Taylor, Shift Manager
Weber, System Engineer
Webring, Vice President Operations Support
Wyrick, Assistant to Plant General Manager

Nuclear Re ulator Commission

*R
*Q
*g

Barr, Senior Resident Inspector
Replogle, Resident Inspector
Wong, Chief, Reactor Projects Branch E

The inspectors also interviewed various control room operators, shift
supervisors, shift managers, and maintenance, engineering, quality assurance,
and management personnel.

*Attended the exit meeting on February 27, 1996.



2 EXIT MEETING

An exit meeting was conducted on February 27, 1996. During this meeting, the
inspectors reviewed the scope and findings of the report. The licensee
acknowledged the inspectors'indings. The licensee did not identify that any
proprietary information was provided to, or reviewed by, the inspectors.



ATTACHMENT 2

ACRONYMS

CRS

CVI
DG

EO

FAO

F IN
FSAR
GL

HPCS

HVAC
INPO
IRB
JIS
LER
NRC

OG

PER
PMT

POC

PPM

PSRO

OC

SE

SES
SM

SSS
SW

SSW

STA
TS
WNP-2
WOT

WR

control room supervisor
certified vendor information
diesel generator
equipment operator
followup assessment of operability
Fix It Now
Final Safety Analysis Report
Generic Letter
high pressure core spray
heating, ventilation, and air conditioning
Institute of Nuclear Power Operations
Incident Review Board
job investigation sheet
licensee event report
U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission
off-gas
problem evaluation request
postmaintenance test
plant operating committee
plant procedure manual
production senior reactor operator
quality control
system engineer
system engineering supervisor
shift manager
shift support supervisor
service water
standby service water
shift technical advisor
Technical Specifications
Washington Nuclear Project-2
work order task
work request
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